#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANDREW MICHAEL GOSCIMINSKI,	)		
	)		
Appellant,	)		
	)		
v.	)	CASE NO.	SC05-1126
	)		
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)		
	)		
Appellee.	)		
	)		

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit In and For St. Lucie, County, Florida

CAROL STAFFORD HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

GARY LEE CALDWELL
Assistant Public Defender
Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida
Florida Bar No. 256919
Attorney for Andrew Gosciminski
421 Third Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

(561)355-7600; (561) 624-6560 appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A jury found Andrew Michael Gosciminski, appellant, guilty of first degree murder, robbery with a deadly weapon, and burglary with assault with a deadly weapon. R6 952-54. It recommended a death sentence by a vote of 9-3. R6 1018. The court sentenced him to death for the murder, and to prison terms for the other offenses. R8 1298-1306. It found the CCP, felony mrder (merged with pecuniary gain) and HAC circumstances in aggravation, and found numerous mitigating circumstances. R8 1272-97.

A. Joan Loughman was beaten and stabbed to death in a Fort Pierce house belonging to her elderly father on September 24, 2002. She was in Florida to make arrangements for her father, who was moved from a hospital to a rehab center and then to Lyford Cove, a Fort Pierce assisted living facility, R21 1552-53, where appellant was outreach director. Around 8:47 or 8:56 a.m., she ended a telephone conversation her sister, Janet Vala-

Terry, saying there was someone at the door. R21 1558-59, 1582. Her body was found that evening. R21 1588-89, R22 1605. The time of death was not determined, but she did not answer phone calls at 12:41 p.m, 4:24 p.m, and later. R23 1789. Her jewelry was missing, including a two carat diamond ring with baguettes on each side. R21 1564-65, R32 2926. The home had no signs of forced entry. R21 1590, R22 1623. There were no usable prints at the scene, R22 1625-27, and the state presented no DNA evidence, blood stains, or the like, identifying the murderer.

Debra Thomas was living with appellant in Port St. Lucie (they were about to move to Vero Beach) at the time of the murder. She said that, for several days before September 24, he said he would get her a two carat diamond ring in West Palm Beach. R28 2355. On September 24, she found him washing his upper body at the bathroom sink. R28 2361. He had blood on his arm; his clothes were on the floor, soiled with blood. Id. He said he had to get rid of the clothes because of the blood. R28 2362. He said he had roughed some guy up while collecting money for his friend Dominick. Id. She never again saw the clothes (a tan shirt and brown loafers). R28 2363-65. At trial, she put the time between 11:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m. R28 2361. She had told Det. Hickox appellant came home around 1:00. R28 2438-39. At deposition, she put the time around 1:00, saying he left

around 3:00. R28 2450, 2455.

Lois Bosworth, a company executive, met appellant at Lyford Cove around, or a couple of minutes before, 12:30. R26 2217-20. He wore a black Polo shirt, and khaki slacks. R26 2220. She did not see blood or scratches or bruises on him. R26 2226-27.

Debra Flynn, Lyford Cove's director, said appellant came to the office around 1:30 p.m. on September 24. R26 2126. In the past he would come to morning staff meetings, but his attendance had become very erratic. R26 2127. He wore a short sleeve shirt, pants, and casual shoes. R26 2128. His hair was slicked back, freshly combed, maybe still wet, he looked freshly Id. His arms seemed shinier than usual, but he was cleaned. never dirty. R26 2129. He was unusually quiet and subdued. He told her and her assistant, Nicole Rizzolo, he had a ring for Thomas; he had a tissue with a white or platinum ring with a round diamond in the center and perhaps smaller diamonds or baguettes on either side. R26 2130-31. It was old, dirty, with black on it, did not look recently bought. R26 2131. was not interested, was irritated about his work. R26 2132, 2123. He said he got the ring, a diamond bracelet and other jewelry in an estate sale. R26 2133-34. She saw the ring for less than a minute. R26 2143.

Nicole Rizzolo said he arrived after lunch, and met Bosworth

around 12:45 or 1:00. R26 2196, 2207. He showed Rizzolo and Flynn a white gold or platinum diamond ring; she estimated it was two carats, but was not good with jewelry. R26 2198-99. She did not look at it very long, was not interested in it. R26 2199. He said he got Thomas a tennis bracelet. R26 2199-2200. He pulled the ring from a napkin. R26 2200. At trial, she said he showed them the ring on September 24, but said at deposition that he did it before the murder. R26 2198, 2204-05.

Pamela Durrance, appellant's ex-wife, testified that during their marriage he sold jewelry from a briefcase. R25 2055-56. He did this seven or eight years before the trial. R25 2057.

Thomas said appellant gave her a white gold or platinum ring with a large diamond, and baguettes on either side the evening of the 24<sup>th</sup>. R28 2372. It was not in a box, it was dull, like it needed to be cleaned, didn't look new. R28 2373. She showed Maureen Reape the ring the next day and the day after that. R28 2374, R31 2752-53. On the 26<sup>th</sup>, she and appellant told Steven Jurina appellant got her a ring, but Jurina did not see it. R26 2230-33. Appellant told him it was a two carat round diamond worth about \$15,000. R26 2232.

On October 1, appellant told officers he went to the house on the  $17^{\rm th}$  to pick up furniture. R23 1805-06. He said the furniture was outside, in an alcove or entrance way. R23 1806. He

thought the maid had come to get a key, but he didn't actually see her, but Loughman said she was there. R23 1813.

On October 2, Det. Hickox secretly videotaped an interview with appellant. He said he moved furniture from the house to Lyford Cove on the 17<sup>th</sup>. SR1 34-36. Loughman said the maid was there to pick up keys, but he did not see her; the stuff was in the living room and part of it was outside, and she came in later to do the paperwork. SR1 36. He saw her maybe once or twice at the facility, and met her Monday night. SR1 36. talked about 10 or 15 minutes, and she asked him to put a suitcase in her car. SR1 37. Asked about personal conversations, he said, "We talked about us, my move coming up, moving stuff like that." SR1 37-38. Asked about her jewelry, he said he didn't pay too much attention to that stuff. SR1 39. he would agree to give a DNA sample after talking to his lawyer, and calling him on his cell phone. SR1 40-42. Asked about the jewelry, he said he didn't "notice stuff like that. I deal with people, family members all day long that, it's irrelevant to what Dad or [Mom] may be able to take care of to us, which is why we do a confidentiality statement on what Mom or Dad can afford." SR1 43. Hickox said Joan's sister Janet said Joan said he was interested in her diamond ring and was going to buy his girlfriend a ring, but he did not recall the conversation, saying he did not get that friendly with people, Joan just knew from conversation things like they were moving. SR1 43-44. He began to say what he had done on Tuesday, and his phone rang, and he went out to talk to his lawyer, and there was a discussion of arranging about the DNA. SR1 45-47. He said the day after seeing Joan he had a meeting with the head honcho at his company at 11, and he was packing for his move and went to the bank around 9:30 or 10:00. SR1 48. His lawyer called, and the interview ended. SR1 48-49.

On October 2, while Hickox spoke with appellant, Dets. Bender and Hall interviewed Thomas. They saw she had a white gold or platinum ring with two diamonds on the side of a large diamond, R30 2686, and said they were investigating a murder involving jewelry. R28 2394. She said it was an engagement ring appellant had given her previously. R28 2396. After they left, appellant called, saying they had "to get rid of that, Frankie said it's hot." Id. He came home, took the ring off the counter and went to the beach. R28 2398. That night, Debra met Ben Thomas, who was not related to her. R28 2403. They went to the police station, where she told what had happened to the ring. R28 2403-04.

Ben Thomas was married to Deborah Pelletier. In June or July 2002 he told her he was in love with Debra Thomas. R31

2763. Pelletier moved out of their Port St. Lucie home, and Ben Thomas and Debra Thomas briefly moved in. R31 2763-65. At the start of August, they moved out and Pelletier moved back in. R31 2766. Ben and Debra continued to live together until late August, when Debra moved back to live with appellant. R28 2347. She said did so because appellant threatened her, Ben Thomas, and her family. R28 2347-48. She married Ben Thomas in 2003. R28 2405.

At 8:45 a.m., September 24, Ben Thomas paid for breakfast at a cafe across the bridge from the murder scene. R29 2505-06, 2536. He worked for a diving equipment company, and said he was in the area to visit a dive shop. R27 2297-98, R28 2889-90.

Before the case went to the grand jury, Det. Hickox told Ben Thomas that "if they don't indict, he's a free man and that's what we're trying to prevent." R29 2544. He said they had "a lot of circumstantial evidence, but as you know, we don't have a smoking gun, we don't have the jewelry and especially we don't have the ring that he gave Deb. If we had that, this case would be a breeze and that's why we want to call Deb back in." Id.

Appellant was indicted October 22, 2002. R1 1. In November, Pelletier's father Joseph found a bag containing Loughman's jewels, including a tennis bracelet, in a shed at the Pelletier home. R31 2797-2802, 2774-75, 2784, R32 2900-04. The Pelleti-

ers gave them to Hickox; before meeting Hickox, Deborah Pelletier got a call from Ben saying it was the happiest day of his life, and it was going to be the best Christmas ever because she was going to join appellant in jail. R31 2784-85. After handing over the jewelry, she went to Chicago; while she was there, Ben Thomas made a false police charge that she had used his credit card. R31 2775, 2783.

A couple of weeks after October 3, 2002 and appellant's arrest, but before the jewels were found, Ben and his friends took stuff from Pelletier's house and garage. R31 2787-88.

An officer called Debra Thomas about finding the jewels, and she correctly identified the bag as for Geoffrey Beene Gray Flannel cologne before he described it. R28 2427-28. She said she bought it for appellant and he kept the bag in his drawer.

Id. A credit card bill showed Ben made a \$64.16 purchase at Geoffrey Beene on June 29, 2002. R3 462. He said he bought shorts. R29 2542.

Appellant began visiting Pelletier when she moved back into the house in August 2002, and sometime before the murder he helped her turn on the water at a shut-off outside the shed. R31 2770, 2781, 2783. Later, she told him about finding the jewels; he seemed a little taken aback and said something like, I'm done, it's over, and told her not to visit him again. T31

2780.

In February 2003, Loughman's fanny pack was found near the intersection of I-95 and Martin Highway. R32 2874-77, 2945.

Thomas Loughman, Joan's husband, said one of the rings (State's 5) in a ring lineup (State's 113) resembled Joan's missing ring. R32 2926. Exhibit 5 was number 3 in the lineup.

R24 1875. Debra Flynn could not pick a ring from the lineup:

none of them really looked like it. That the one that I chose, I chose because it, the stone was set lower and that it was dirtier looking, so that was the reason why I was choosing that stone. But I didn't really believe that any them looked like it.

R26 2139. She told the police "something like I would choose this one, except that it's larger and it's not dirty." R26 2184-85. She thought the ring she saw looked more flush, like number 4. R26 2185. She told the police she would choose number 3 "except for the fact that it doesn't have any black around it, that it doesn't look old and dirty as the ring that I saw." R26 2186. Nicole Rizzola said that Exhibit 113 was not the lineup the police showed her. R26 2200-01. In the lineup she saw, she picked a ring "kind of similar, but not the ring" appellant had. R26 2201. Debra Thomas picked ring 3 from the lineup. R28 2431. Officers Bender and Hall also picked number 3. R30 2688-90, 2711-12.

Kyle Lee, a Nextel employee, testified about calls to and from appellant's cell phone on September 24. R3 458. He produced a cell tower map, with an overlay showing purported areas the phone could have been in at the time of each call. R29 2586. There were calls from 6:31 through 8:08 (Becker Road tower), R29 2587-89; calls at 8:13 and 8:19 via a tower east of I-95 (St. Lucie West), R29 2595-2601; a call at 8:24 and a twelve-minute call at 8:25 (St. Lucie Stadium), R29 2601-02; calls at 9:12, 9:27 (voice mail access), and 9:28 (Favor Cove), R29 2603-05; a 10:23 call via a tower east of Highway 97 and south of Becker Road (Martin Highway tower), R29 2605; a call at 10:36 (Stuart), R29 2606-07; and calls at 11:29 and 11:39 (Becker Road). R29 2607.

Financial records showed: his net pay was \$1384.20 for September 1-15, 2002, R3 442, and \$1447.84 for the rest of the month, R3 444; \$344.27 past due on an auto loan owed by him and Debra Thomas, R3 448; \$157.75 past due on the electric bill in his mother's name on the house he lived in with Debra, R3 449; \$51.32 over limit on a credit card, R3 451; a \$330.86 check account overdraft, R31 2823; and, on September 24, a \$430 cash bank deposit in Palm City at 10:08 a.m., and a \$57 check deposit

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 1}$  The largest charge was for a \$217 airline ticket for a trip Debra Thomas took to Arizona. R 3 451, R28 2442-43.

in Darwin Square in Port St. Lucie at 11:04 a.m. R31 2836-41.

Appellant testified that his job involved seeing to contacts and brochure stations at hospitals, doctor's offices, and businesses. R34 3150-52. On September 24, he had an 8:00 a.m. nursing home appointment in Port St. Lucie; when he got there, the person was unavailable. R34 3201-02, 3206. He headed toward his office, stopping to check brochures and see contacts. R34 3206-09. He stopped at an office, hospice, and the VA. 3209-10. After stops in Fort Pierce, he went south to a Palm City nursing home. R34 3211-12. He made a bank cash deposit, and went east. R34 3212-13. The cash was from a garage sale. R34 3186. He went to Publix to get boxes for the move. R34 3214. He went on making stops, and went to another Publix for boxes. R34 3214-17. At Darwin Circle, he deposited a check he had forgotten in his briefcase. R34 3217-18. He made stops until noon, when he went to his office, meeting Bosworth around 12:30. R34 3218-19, 3221. He was not on South Beach on Septem-R34 3220. After leaving that morning, he did not return home until 3:00 or 3:30. R35 3225.

Debra had alcohol and drug problems, and was very fond of Xanax, Hydrocodone, and OxyContin; not having her own prescriptions, she used his, mixing drugs and alcohol. R34 3164-65. They broke up in April 2002, and she went to Arizona, but they

got back together and she assured him she would stop. R34 3165-66. Her substance abuse returned in a few weeks. R34 3166. She went back to Arizona; the \$217 credit charge was for the ticket. R34 3173. She returned in August, saying she was sober, but he soon found it was not true. R34 3175-76.

Debra wanted a new car, diamond ring, breast implants, she wanted to be on the checking accounts, to be on the house lease purchase option, to the beach. R34 3175. The overdue car payment was one she was supposed to pay. R34 3177. She was a jewelry hound and he bought her many pieces of jewelry, including four rings. R34 3157-58. Ring 4 in the lineup was the closest to a ring he gave her, but it was bigger and a little wider than one in the lineup. R34 3160-61, 3163. Ring 4 was dark or dirty looking, and antique style rings sometimes look dirty. R34 3161. She liked antiques and wore only flush mount jewelry. R34 3161-62. He bought the ring from her brother in August. R34 3163. Her brother and sister-in-law dealt in jewelry on eBay. R34 3159, R35 3528-29.

Debra went with him to get his paycheck at his office; Joan met him, and Debra commented about her jewelry and he commented about it briefly. R34 3188, 3191. They said they were looking for a larger diamond ring for Debra, even though they had bought the one ring. R34 3191. That night, Debra wanted to see the

beach at the new house, so they took a ride, and she offered to show where Joan's house might be on the island as he was unfamiliar with the area and Debra had lived there. R34 3189-90.

When he picked up furniture Joan's father's home, some of the furniture and a suitcase were outside the door. R34 3192-95. Joan said the maid was there, but he did not see her. R34 3195. Joan's father fell in Lyford Cove, and was hospitalized September 23. R34 3197. Appellant contacted Joan and helped her move a suitcase to the car. R34 3198.

Appellant had two prior convictions on bad check charges, which he said arose when a pet business he had with his ex-wife went out of business. R35 3308-09.

B. At the penalty phase, the state presented Thomas Loughman's statement regarding his wife's character.

Jerome Brinson, security chapel deputy, testified for the defense to 2½ years of experience in jail with appellant, who often came to the chapel; his behavior was exemplary, very respectful and courteous, he was very outstanding, had no problems with other inmates. Records of his attendance at mass and counseling were put in evidence. R38 3647-48. Sgt. Robert Wolff, a jail deputy, testified to appellant's good behavior. R38 2651-52.

Linda Winterton, director of health services at an assisted

living community, testified to appellant's good work as director of housekeeping at a Lake Worth facility where they both worked.

R38 2655-58.

Dr. Michael Riordan, a psychologist, appellant's grandmother, his primary caregiver in his early years, died when he
was very young. R38 3673. He was strongly attached to her, her
loss had a significant impact. R38 3674-75. He did not feel
the same support and nurturing from his parents, and was left
alone to be involved in activities without a feeling of emotional support. R38 3675. He was a very obedient child. R38
3673. He had migraines, nausea, blurred vision and vomiting
when a teacher disapproved of him. Id. He was active in school
clubs, Cub Scouts, religious training, camera club, plays, and
choir. R38 3674. His parents would let him off to go to activities, but were not involved. R38 3675. A work supervisor
noted he was a dedicated, excellent worker; he was noted for
pursuit of development through college. R38 3674.

He married pretty young when his girlfriend was pregnant, and was later separated from his child when the mother moved away; he wanted to provide the child military benefits, but was frustrated to the point of seeking and getting mental health treatment. R38 3676. He had depression and anxiety at times in his life, including this one. R38 3676-77.

He was in the Air Force and had good ratings for outstanding work, and was reported as having exceptional job knowledge. R38 3683. He was honorably discharged. R38 3682. In the military, he was provided with antianxiety medication; he was depressed and was diagnosed with a personality disorder at that point. R38 3685.

He had a history of very high ratings as an excellent employee, with good ratings at his last job, and was promoted; at Lyford Care, he finished courses showing an ability to continue his education and meet job requirements, with certificates for courses in fire, hazardous waste, blood borne pathogens, how to dispose of those; infection control; handling major incidents, emergencies, procedures and safety; HIV and AIDS, food handling and nutrition service; residents' daily living activities; training about abuse, neglect and exploitation and domestic violence; and mandatory state reporting in first aid. R38 3682-84. He was an outstanding, very knowledgeable employee, a great community asset, involved in volunteer services. R38 3684.

Based on interviews with appellant, psychological testing, and review of his record, Riordan concluded that he had a mixed personality disorder, also termed personality disorder not otherwise specified, with components including

a strong need for approval and attention and support, which, theoretically, stems from his relationship with

his parents where he tried to gain their nurturance and their support and was not even very successful in being able to achieve that so that there's this side of him that wants to please. It results in things like outstanding work records because he's trying to obtain the approval of his supervisors.

R38 3677-78. He always sought approval, was anxious and depressed when he could not get it; it is treatable; an he had a periodic depression disorder not otherwise specified. R38 3678-79.

Excluding the present case, Riordan saw no history of violence; his history was of seeking attention and approval. R38 3680. He sought to stand out among peers as the one to get excellent ratings and praise to the point of rubbing coworkers the wrong way, engendering bad feelings and bad will from them. Id.

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