IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-1126

ANDREW MICHAEL GOSCIMINSKI

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETHEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

ISSUE VII

THE STATE'S CROSS-EXAMINATION OF APPELLANT WAS PROPER

Gosciminski argues the state committed reversible error during his examination. The "offending" exchange was elicited to demonstrate that he, like no other witness, had the opportunity to listen to all the evidence before presenting his own testimony. (ROA 3230-3231). He objected on the ground the questioning was "argumentative." (R 3231). Here, he claims the questioning was the equivalent of argument and that it was an improper comment on the right to remain silent. Relief should be denied for the following reasons.

First, Gosciminski's claim that the questioning was an improper comment on the right to remain silent was not raised below, and thus, it is unpreserved. <u>See Occhicone v. State</u> 570 So.2d. 902, 906 (Fla. 1990) (explaining, "[i]n order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the specific legal argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial court." <u>Bertolotti v. Dugger</u>, 514 So. 2d 1095, 1096 (Fla. 1987). This claim, therefore, has not been preserved).

Second, irrespective of the procedural defect, relief is not warranted. The questioning was neither argumentative nor an improper comment on the right to remain silent. The United States Supreme Court has rejected this very argument, in a case with very similar facts. The comments in that case were made in closing and were as follows:

Finally, over defense objection, the prosecutor remarked:

"You know, ladies and gentlemen, unlike all the other witnesses in this case the defendant has a benefit and the benefit that he has, unlike all the other witnesses, is he gets to sit here and listen to the testimony of all the other witnesses before he testifies.

• • •

"That gives you a big advantage, doesn't it. You get to sit here and think what am I going to say and how am I going to say it? How am I going to fit it into the evidence?

<u>Portuondo v.Agard</u>, 529 U.S. 61, 64 (2000). In rejecting the claim the Court noted:

In sum, we see no reason to depart from the practice of treating testifying defendants the same as other witnesses. A witness's ability to hear prior testimony and to tailor his account accordingly, and the threat that ability presents to the integrity of the trial, are no different when it is the defendant doing the listening. Allowing comment upon the fact that a defendant's presence in the courtroom provides him a tailor his testimony opportunity to unique is appropriate -- and indeed, given the inability to sequester the defendant, sometimes essential -- to the central function of the trial, which is to discover the truth.

<u>Id.</u> at 73. <u>See Chandler v. State</u>, 848 So.2d 1031, 1044, (Fla.

2003) (rejecting claim defendant enjoys extra constitutional protection as witness, "if a defendant voluntarily takes the stand and testifies as a witness in his own behalf, then he becomes subject to cross-examination as any other witness, and the prosecuting officer has the right to comment on his testimony his manner and demeanor on the stand, the reasonableness or unreasonableness of his statements, and on the discrepancies which may appear in his testimony to the same extent as would be proper with reference to testimony of any other witness," quoting, Dabney v, State 161 So. 380 (Fla. 1935). The state's questions on cross-examination were proper. This claim must be denied.

ISSUE VIII

GOSCIMINSKI'S OBJECTION TO STATE'S COMMENT ON HIS

INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS WAS DENIED PROPERLY (restated)

Relying on Smith v. State, 573 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1990) and Robbins v. State, 891 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), Gosciminski contends the state was impermissibly allowed to comment on his right to remain silent during closing argument. The "offending" comment was: "[f]or the first time we hear the defendant take the stand..." (IB 55; R.35 3420-21). Focusing on a very limited portion of the argument, Gosciminski claims, "from the jury's standpoint," the remark encompassed the entire period of time leading up to his trial testimony, and thus, was a comment on his right to remain silent. (IB 59) The State disagrees. A review of the entire closing argument in conjunction with Gosciminski's direct and cross-examination testimony, clearly demonstrate he was being questioned about his prior inconsistent police statement. Such impeachment is proper and is not in anyway an inference on the right to remain silent.

One main defense theory was that Debbie and Ben Thomas could have committed the robbery and murder of Joan Loughman. (R.35 3423-3424). In support of that theory, Gosciminski testified at trial that Debra was aware the victim owned jewelry as she saw it and commented on same when she and Gosciminski had a chance meeting with Loughman at Lyford. (R.34 3191). However, Gosciminski's trial testimony was in direct contradiction to his earlier videotaped police statement on the

same subject. (SR.3 #2 46, 50-51). In an attempt to explain the prior inconsistency, defense counsel asked the following:

QUESTION: Did you forget about that conversation when you were talking with the police or why didn't you say something to them about it?

ANSWER: At the time they asked me that question, during the interview, I was quite frankly, extremely nervous, as I am now. This is a very serious matter that these people are talking about.

(ROA 3191). During cross, the state focused on inconsistencies between the trial testimony and previous videotaped statement regarding whether Gosciminski and/or Debra Thomas ever noticed the victim's jewelry. (R.35 3233-41, 3292-94).

Also, those issues were focused upon during closing argument. The State pointed out, on three separate occasions without objection, that Gosciminski testified at trial that he and Debra did notice and did comment on the victim's jewelry. He explains, "[a]nd in his video testimony he never noticed the jewelry, didn't comment on the jewelry." (R.36 3424). Further, "[d]efendant didn't say that in his video but now he says it." (R.36 3424) and "[w]e have a prior statement from him, a prior statement where he says I didn't notice the jewelry, don't get that close to people, didn't comment on it." (R.36 3425).

Gosciminski's claim that the jury could have been confused regarding what reference the prosecutor was making is belied by the record. The jury heard both of Gosciminski's statements,

and they were asked to consider the inconsistencies therein. This is not a situation where they were asked to compare a statement with his prior "silence", consequently, reliance on <u>Smith</u> and <u>Robbins</u> is misplaced. Relief was denied properly. <u>Cf.</u> <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 848 So.2d 1031, 1044, (Fla. 2003) (finding it proper to point out discrepancies between defendant's testimony and prior statements).

ISSUE IX

THE QUESTION TO GOSCIMINSKI AND ARGUMENT REGARDING WHETHER BLOOD WAS ON THE RING WAS PROPER (restated)

Gosciminski maintains it was error for the court to overrule his objection to the question whether the ring was dirty with blood. He asserts that the State's closing was improper as it inferred the substance was blood.²³ (IB 61). In part this issue is not preserved; however, when placed in context, the questioning and argument were proper.²⁴

²³ The challenge to the State's closing argument related to the black substance is not preserved because no contemporaneous objection was raised. (R.36 3407, 3442). To preserve a claim of prosecutorial misconduct "the defense must make a specific contemporaneous objection at trial." <u>San Martin v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 462, 467 (Fla. 1998); <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982) (finding defendant failed to preserve for review prosecutorial misconduct where only general objection made, followed by motion for mistrial). Where an objection to a comment is sustained, and the defense does not seek a curative instruction or mistrial, the matter is not preserved. <u>Riechmann</u> v. State, 581 So.2d 133, 138-39 n.12 (Fla. 1991).

²⁴ Admission of testimony is within the court's sound discretion. <u>Dessaure</u>, 891 So.2d at 466. Control of prosecutorial argument lies within the court's discretion, and will not be disturbed

With respect to the cross-examination of Gosciminski, the State had presented proof Loughman was wearing her jewelry at the time of the attack, that the attack was bloody, and that the jewelry was taken afterwards. (R.33 3034-36). The crime scene photographs show pools of a dark substance, i.e., blood. (R.33 3037, 3039-45). It is a reasonable question to the perpetrator whether the dark substance noted on the ring was blood. There was a valid basis for the question as found by the court. Whether or not other witnesses could have been asked the question is not the issue, and does not undermine the question posed to Gosciminski.

<u>Duncan v. State</u>, 776 So.2d 287 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); <u>Tobey v.</u> <u>State</u>, 486 So.2d 54 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); and <u>Carpenter v. State</u>, 664 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) do not assist Gosciminski. Witnesses had testified previously as to the dark substance or dirty appearance of the ring. Moreover, the jury had been shown crime scene photographs showing the amount of blood around and on Loughman's body. As such, the State's question did not run afoul of the cases cited by Gosciminski.

Likewise, his argument that the State's closing was improper is meritless. When read in context, the State did not aver that the substance was blood, but asked the jury to

absent an abuse of discretion. <u>Esty v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 1074, 1079 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 514 U.S. 1027 (1995).

consider what it looked like and whether it could be blood. "Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. [c.o.] Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments." <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). In arguing to a jury "[l]ogical inferences from the evidence are permissible. Public prosecutors are allowed to advance to the jury all legitimate arguments within the limits of their forensic talents in order to effectuate their enforcement of the criminal laws." <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 133 So.2d 729, 731 (Fla. 1961), cert. denied, 372 U.S. 904 (1963).

The State commented: "This ring that is dirty and that's got black around it, black <u>like</u> the dried blood of the victim, dirty because he took it off her dead fingers." Later, the State asked: "Just so happens Bender and Hall, Reape and Debra Thomas pick that ring. Just so happens Debra Flynn went to pick Number 3 but it's dirtier and black. <u>Is that from the blood?</u>" (R.36 3407, 3442) (emphasis supplied). Both the comment and question are based on the evidence, i.e., witnesses' accounts and crime scene photographs. All fall within the limits of the prosecutor's forensic talents to enforce the criminal laws. Spencer. This Court should affirm.

Even if the question/argument is deemed improper, relief must be denied. There was overwhelming evidence of Gosciminski guilt, thus, any error is harmless. (see the evidence and

harmless error arguments asserted in Issues II, V, VI, and XVI.)

ISSUE X

THE DENIAL OF A MISTRIAL WAS PROPER (restated)

Here, Gosciminski argues his motion for mistrial following the State's inquiry as to whether he had authority to deposit his mother's check should have been granted even though the jury was given a curative instruction. (IB 66; R.35 3267-70). The State disagrees.²⁵

In <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 645 So.2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994), this Court outlined under what conditions a mistrial should be granted for prosecutorial misconduct. A new trial is required when the prosecutor's comments: "either deprive the defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially contribute to the conviction, be so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or be so inflammatory that they might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise." <u>See Anderson v. State</u>, 863 So.2d 169, 187 (Fla. 2003); <u>Hamilton v. State</u>, 703 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1997). The curative instruction given obviated the need for a mistrial.

The State disagrees that its question implied a collateral

²⁵ A ruling on a motion for mistrial is subject to an abuse of discretion standard. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 866 So.2d 51, 58-59 (Fla. 2004); <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 841 So.2d 390 (Fla. 2002); <u>Smithers v. State</u>, 826 So. 2d 916, 930 (Fla. 2002); <u>Gore v. State</u>, 784 So.2d 418, 427 (Fla. 2001). A motion for mistrial should be granted only when necessary to ensure the defendant receives a fair trial. <u>See Goodwin v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999).

crime as it would be within the jury's common knowledge that the check would have had to be made out to cash or to the account holder in order to be deposited. Hence, the question would have little impact on the case. It would not be apparent to the jury that such may be a crime. The reference made here was not like those cases where the jury was informed the defendant had a record, was an escaped felon, or had other criminal cases pending. <u>Czubak v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1990). However, should the court find it was improper, the curative given was sufficient. <u>See Walker v. State</u>, 707 So.2d 300, 313 (Fla. 1997) (holding admission of testimony referencing other charges harmless in light of curative instruction).

The jury was told the question was improper and to disregard it. It is presumed the jury follows the court's instruction. <u>Crain v. State</u>, 894 So.2d 59, 70 (Fla. 2004). Moreover, this issue was not discussed further. In contrast, irrespective of Gosciminski's finances with his mother and the depositing of a \$57.00 check,²⁶ the evidence showed he was financially strapped based on his own records, that he wanted the two carat ring, that he was near Loughman's home that day,

²⁶ The suggestion that the check deposit was used to generate ill will is not well taken as the State was attempting to prove Gosciminski was having financial and relationship difficulties and such was part of his motive to take Loughman's jewelry. Further, it showed that it was not until he deposited the check that his account had a positive balance. Hence there was a relevant basis for asking the question.

had blood on himself/clothes, and hortly after the morning murder, had possession of Loughman's ring following the murder, and discarded the ring once the police became interested in it. This evidence, the facts and harmless error analysis of **Issues II, V, VI, and XVI** show the reference to the check pales in comparison with the evidence of guilt. This Court should find the question did not lead to the verdict; it did not vitiate the entire trial. The conviction should be affirmed.

ISSUES XI AND XII

THE VIDEOTAPED STATEMENT AND TESTIMONY RELATING DEFENDANT'S COMMENTS TO THE VICTIM ABOUT HER RING AND JEWELRY WERE ADMITTED PROPERLY (restated)

Gosciminski takes issue with the admission of a portion of his videotaped interview (Issue XI) and the testimony of Loughman's husband and sister (Issue XII) involving statements he made to Loughman noting her jewelry and wanting to get a two carat ring for his girlfriend. (IB 67, 71). Not only were these matters not preserved, but they were admissible affirm.²⁷

In spite of having challenged other portions of his videotaped interview and having approved the transcript for use as a demonstrative aid, Gosciminski failed to object to the question Hickox posed and his answer until the video was being played to the jury. (R.24 1900-02). The defense objected and

 $^{^{27}}$ Admission of testimony is within the court's sound discretion. <u>Dessaure</u>, 891 So.2d at 466. Discretion is abused where the judicial act is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable <u>Trease</u>.

moved for a mistrial.

To the extent Gosciminski is claiming a mistrial should have been granted and the evidence excluded, the matter is waived with respect to the statement. When the court denied the mistrial, it was <u>without prejudice</u> for the defense to raise it should the State not get its related testimony of the husband and sister into evidence.²⁸ When the defense challenged the admission of the testimony from the husband and sister, the court was not reminded of its prior ruling denying the mistrial. Hence, in spite of the fact the testimony was found admissible, the court was not given the opportunity to revisit the prior decision after it had taken the testimony by proffer (R.32 2904-17; SR.3 55-56) thus, it is unpreserved. <u>Steinhorst</u>.

With respect to the merits, the following puts in context

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